## THE MOLECULAR CONTROL OF CIRCADIAN BEHAVIORAL RHYTHMS AND THEIR ENTRAINMENT IN *DROSOPHILA*

#### Michael W. Young

National Science Foundation Science and Technology Center for Biological Timing, and Laboratory of Genetics, The Rockefeller University, New York, New York 10021; e-mail:young@rockvax.rockefeller.edu

KEY WORDS: period, timeless, doubletime, protein interaction, molecular clocks

#### ABSTRACT

Molecular and genetic characterizations of circadian rhythms in *Drosophila* indicate that function of an intracellular pacemaker requires the activities of proteins encoded by three genes: *period* (*per*), *timeless* (*tim*), and *doubletime* (*dbt*). RNA from two of these genes, *per* and *tim*, is expressed with a circadian rhythm. Heterodimerization of PER and TIM proteins allows nuclear localization and suppression of further RNA synthesis by a PER/TIM complex. These protein interactions promote cyclical gene expression because heterodimers are observed only at high concentrations of *per* and *tim* RNA, separating intervals of RNA accumulation from times of PER/TIM complex activity. Light resets these molecular cycles by eliminating TIM. The product of *dbt* also regulates accumulation of *per* and *tim* RNA, and it may influence action of the PER/TIM complex. The recent discovery of PER homologues in mice and humans suggests that a related mechanism controls mammalian circadian behavioral rhythms.

#### CONTENTS

Introduction	136
Genetic Screens for Clock Mutants	136
Molecular Characterization of per	137
Patterns of per RNA and Protein Expression	140
timeless Promotes Cycles of per RNA and Protein Accumulation	141

#### 136 YOUNG

Physical Association of PER and TIM Regulates Activity of Cytoplasmic	
Localization Domains	143
Progression of a Self-Sustaining, Intracellular Oscillator	144
Light Entrains the Clock by Rapidly Eliminating TIM	145
doubletime, a Third Essential Component of the Drosophila Oscillator	148
How Does Cycling of an Intracellular PER/TIM Oscillator Regulate Behavior?	149

#### Introduction

Most forms of life show prominent adaptations to daily cycles of light and dark and have developed endogenous, temperature-compensated, circadian (from the Latin "about a day") clocks. Complex behaviors such as the wake/sleep cycle have come under the control of these clocks, and these physiological clocks allow temporal ordering of gene and protein expression throughout the day and night (1–3). Most circadian behavioral and molecular rhythms have become dependent on the activity of these biological clocks: Eliminating clock function by tissue or gene ablation produces behavioral and molecular arrhythmicities that cannot be reversed by provision of environmental cycles (4-7). Thus, cellular pacemakers use environmental cycles to establish the phase of a biological oscillation, which in turn regulates the behavioral and physiological response. Molecular and phylogenetic evidence suggests that intracellular mechanisms for circadian timekeeping arose before the divergence of the prokaryota and eukaryota (8). Mammals, insects, and fungi construct circadian oscillators, at least in part, from related proteins (discussed below), which suggests a common origin for eukaryotic clocks.

Circadian rhythms have certain shared properties, regardless of the organism studied. The rhythms persist with a species-specific period, usually 22–25 h, in constant darkness; this shows their endogenous origin. The phase of the rhythm can be reset (entrained) by pulses of daylight, and the period of the rhythm shows little tendency to vary with changes in temperature. Molecular mechanisms underlying these biological oscillators are being studied in humans (9,9a), hamsters (10), mice (9,9a, 11), *Drosophila* (12–14), *Neurospora* (15), *Arabidopsis* (16), and *Cyanobacteria* (17). For each of these systems, genetic screening for clock mutations has been directly or indirectly responsible for most progress. In this review I describe the organization of the *Drosophila* clock, for which there is now a fairly detailed understanding of the molecular origins of intracellular circadian oscillations and their entrainment by light.

#### Genetic Screens for Clock Mutants

Early screens in *Drosophila* were the first to prove that single gene mutations could affect circadian rhythms and alter fundamental properties of these oscillations such as period length. Konopka & Benzer (18), in a limited screen of the X chromosome, isolated three alleles of a single gene. The gene was named *period*, with allele *per*<sup>0</sup> giving arrhythmicity; *per*<sup>L</sup>, long-period rhythms of

28 h; and *per*<sup>S</sup>, short-period 19-h rhythms (18). Only recently have new genes been discovered that are also required for *Drosophila's* circadian rhythms. Mutations of the *timeless* (*tim*) locus, on chromosome 2, have produced arrhythmic, short-period, and long-period alleles (7, 19; A Rothenfluh-Hilfiker & MW Young, unpublished data), and a suppressor of the *per*<sup>L</sup> mutation (20). Mutations of *doubletime* (*dbt*), chromosome 3, have provided arrhythmic, longperiod and short-period alleles (J Price, B Kloss & MW Young, unpublished data). The most important feature of this collection of genes is that they all produce proteins that interact to regulate the progression and timing of a single intracellular circadian oscillator (19, 21–25; J Price, B Kloss & MW Young, unpublished data). Thus, *Drosophila* has likely adopted a single biochemical strategy for producing all circadian behavioral and physiological rhythms. I review the properties of each of these genes and their interactions in the following sections.

#### Molecular Characterization of per

The *per* locus was isolated independently by two groups. Chromosomal rearrangement breakpoints affecting *per* (26, 27) identified the gene in a chromosomal walk (28). Subsequently the gene was recovered by chromosomal microdissection (29). Behavioral rhythms were also restored through the transfer of cloned wild-type DNA to *per*<sup>0</sup> *Drosophila* (30, 31). Behavioral studies of such transgenic flies, and genetic studies of *per* aneuploids, demonstrated that the period of *Drosophila* circadian rhythms is sensitive to *per* dosage, with lower doses of *per* increasing period length (27, 30, 32, 33).

Sequence analysis of wild-type and mutant alleles showed that  $per^0$  was null and that  $per^L$  and  $per^S$  were derived by single amino acid substitutions (33, 34). The gene encodes a protein of ~1200 amino acids (35–37) that is found predominantly in cell nuclei (38–40).

per has been cloned from representatives of four insect orders: Diptera, Lepidoptera, Hymenoptera, and Blattodea (41–43). Sequence comparisons indicate five discrete regions of high homology that are interspersed with sequences that are poorly conserved (41, 42). A high degree of sequence conservation is seen at the PER N-terminus (~75 aa), including a sequence forming the PER nuclear localization signal (NLS) (Figure 1; 19, 25, 42). Two more regions of high homology are referred to as PAS and CLD (together ~300 aa; Figure 1). Both domains mediate protein-protein interactions that are described in detail below. Downstream of CLD is found the short-mutable domain (~70 aa). Amino acid substitutions and deletions in a portion of this interval usually generate short-period circadian rhythms, and the original per<sup>S</sup> mutation maps to this conserved interval (33, 34, 44). It has been suggested that this region regulates activity or stability of the protein (44). A fifth region



*Figure 1* PAS family proteins include both products of clock genes and genes encoding blue-light phototransducers and photoreceptors. PER proteins encoded by *Drosophila*, mouse, and human genes can be related by five common sequence blocks: NLS, PAS, CLD, short-mutable domain (S/M), and C2/C3. NLS, nuclear localization signal; CLD, cytoplasmic localization domain; S/M, short-mutable domain. Arylhydrocarbon receptor (AHR) and AHR nuclear transporter (ARNT) heterodimerize to regulate transcription in response to xenobiotic factors. LIG stands for ligand-binding sequence of AHR. SIM, single minded, is required for aspects of neurectoderm development in *Drosophila*. Clock is required for circadian rhythmicity in the mouse. Q-RICH stands for possible transcriptional activator sequences, and bHLH, predicted DNA binding sequences in AHR, ARNT, SIM, and Clock. Zn-F stands for zinc finger linked to DNA binding of WC1 and WC2. *Neurospora* circadian rhythms and blue-light phototransduction depend on WC-1 and WC-2. PYP (bacterial photoactive yellow protein) is shown with the region of chromophore association.

of conserved sequence, C2/C3 (~130 aa), has not been functionally defined (41,42). The level of conservation observed in these insect comparisons is sufficient for inter-order function, because a *per* transgene from the moth *A*. *pernyi* rescues rhythmicity in *per*<sup>0</sup> *Drosophila* (45).

*per* homologues were recently isolated from mouse and human DNA libraries (9,9a). Homologies among the *Drosophila*, mouse, and human PER proteins are extensive: They involve all five conserved domains of the protein defined

by structural and functional studies in insects (9, 9a; Figure 1). The mouse gene is expressed in the suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN), which controls behavioral rhythmicity in rodents (cf. 46). As in *Drosophila* (reviewed below), the mouse gene is expressed in clock tissues with a circadian rhythm (9, 9a). Thus, mammalian circadian pacemakers are probably organized after the fashion of the *Drosophila* clock.

PER (insect, mouse, and human) is linked to a family of proteins by inclusion of the  $\sim$ 260-aa protein interaction domain PAS (47; Figure 1). Although PER has not been shown to bind DNA or to contain a DNA binding protein motif, most PAS proteins include an established DNA binding sequence and are proven, or likely, transcription factors (Figure 1). The role of PAS was first revealed by studies of dioxin receptor assembly and activation and by in vitro studies of PAS protein associations. The two subunits of the dioxin receptor, AHR and ARNT, associate at least in part through their PAS domains in response to ligand binding through the PAS element of AHR (48–50). Dimerization of AHR and ARNT permits DNA binding and activation of target genes such as cytochrome P450 (51-53). The domain promotes heterodimerization of different PAS-containing proteins in vitro, which suggests that PER may interact with an unidentified PAS-containing protein (54). Although no PAScontaining partner has been identified, PER's PAS domain is an element of this protein's physical interaction with TIM (21, 25; described below), indicating a role for PAS in heterotypic as well as homotypic protein associations.

Recently PAS has been discovered in circadian clock proteins other than PERIOD in three noninsect species. In *Neurospora*, two proteins *white collar-1* (*wc-1*) and *white collar-2* (*wc-2*), are required for blue-light phototransduction (55–57). Both genes are also required for proper expression of the *Neurospora* clock gene *frequency* (*frq*), and loss of *wc-1*, *wc-2*, or *frq* results in arrhythmicity (55). Cloning of *wc-1* and *wc-2* revealed that both are PAS-containing (Figure 1) zinc-finger proteins that may dimerize to regulate transcription of *frq* and several previously identified light-responsive genes (56, 57). Both proteins bind DNA associated with regulated target genes (56, 57).

In the mouse, a gene referred to as *Clock* is required for circadian rhythmicity. Homozygotes produce long-period rhythms that grade into arrhythmicity following transfer from light/dark cycles to constant darkness (58). Cloning of *Clock* revealed a PAS-domain–containing protein (11, 58a; Figure 1). Like most PAS-family proteins, CLOCK carries a putative DNA binding sequence (bHLH), which suggests function in mouse timekeeping as a transcription factor.

Photoactive yellow protein (PYP) and certain Algal phytochromes have recently been added to the PAS family (Figure 1). Both of these proteins function as photoreceptors in conjunction with an associated chromophore (59). Inclusion of PYP, a phytochrome, wc-1, and wc-2 in the PAS family raises the possibility that PER and CLOCK arose from a group of proteins originally dedicated to blue-light photoreception and phototransduction (55, 59).

## Patterns of per RNA and Protein Expression

Studies of genetically mosaic *Drosophila* and of transgenic flies indicate that circadian behavioral rhythms are controlled by 20–30 neurons of the central brain (60–62). Some of the cells, referred to as lateral neurons (LN) (60), express the transcription factor GLASS, which is required for development of all known *Drosophila* photoreceptors (62–65). When the *glass* promoter is used to direct *per* expression to only these central brain cells in transgenic *per*<sup>0</sup> flies, behavioral rhythms are restored, even if the eyes and ocelli are removed (62). In a light/dark cycle, the phase of the rhythm produced by these eyeless, ocelliless flies is reset, which suggests that *glass*-expressing brain cells can mediate both rhythmicity and entrainment (62).

*per* RNA and proteins are expressed with a circadian rhythm. Mutations of *per* alter these molecular oscillations in a fashion that corresponds to their effects on behavioral rhythmicity. per<sup>0</sup> mutants eliminate per RNA cycling. per<sup>L</sup> and per<sup>S</sup> respectively lengthen and shorten the period of the RNA and protein cycles (5,66). These rhythms have been documented in the eye and brain, including the LNs, and in tissues outside the nervous system of the fly (5, 39, 67–71). Oscillations in some of these tissues appear to be autonomously sustained. For example, circadian cycles of per RNA expression are observed in Malpighian tubules even when dissected from the carcasses of decapitated flies that have been maintained in culture for several days (70, 71). RNA and protein cycles are produced with a constant-phase relationship in all of these tissues. Highest levels of per RNA are observed about two hours after lights off in a 12-h/12-h light/dark cycle, and PER protein is subsequently detected in nuclei with a delay in peak accumulation of 4–6 h. The Malpighian rhythms can also be entrained following decapitation, suggesting involvement of a novel photoreceptor.

In addition to cycles of protein accumulation, cycles of PER phosphorylation have been observed (66). Phosphorylation appears to involve several sites on PER, and progressive, phosphorylation-dependent increases in mobility are seen until PER is degraded near dawn (66, 72).

Cycles of *per* RNA and PER protein expression have been reported in the silkmoth *Antheraea pernyi* (73, 74). In the eyes of the moth, *per* RNA and proteins cycle in a fashion that is indistinguishable from the *Drosophila* brain and eye rhythms (73). Yet in the moth brain, cytoplasmic rather than nuclear cycles of PER protein have been immunocytochemically observed. Biochemical studies of PER protein cycles in the moth are not available, and it is not known whether the immunocytochemically detected cycling is autonomously generated in any of the moth tissues studied. Cells controlling behavioral rhythms also have not been identified in the moth. In some exceptional *Drosophila* tissues (e.g. ovaries), PER proteins accumulate cytoplasmically, as in *Antheraea* (38, 68), but no *per* RNA or protein rhythms are observed in these *Drosophila* tissues (68). As mentioned above, RNA from the mouse *period* gene is expressed with a circadian cycle in an established pacemaker tissue, the SCN (9, 9a). Thus, in both *Drosophila* and mice, cycling *per* expression can be linked to cells known to control circadian behavioral rhythms.

Although studies of *per* alone were unable to uncover a mechanism for generating clocklike cycles of gene expression, several observations suggested that PER proteins somehow inhibit *per* transcription:

- 1. Constitutively high levels of *per* transcription are found in  $per^0$  mutants (75, 76).
- 2. *per* transcription declines as PER protein accumulates, and it does not rise again until PER proteins decay (66).
- 3. Constitutive overexpression of a *per* transgene that is limited to the eye blocks cycling of *per* transcription in that tissue but not in the brain (77).
- 4. Transient suppression of PER function leads to increased accumulation of *per* RNA (14, 23).

Cycles of clock gene expression are also associated with the circadian oscillator of *Neurospora* (6, 15). The clock gene *frequency* (*frq*) is required for the circadian regulation of conidiation (78), and *frq* RNA and proteins cycle with a circadian period (6, 79). Overexpression of FRQ protein suppresses *frq* transcription, and transitory reductions in the FRQ protein shift the phase of the conidiation rhythm and the molecular rhythms of *frq* RNA and protein accumulation (6, 15).

# timeless *Promotes Cycles of* per *RNA* and *Protein Accumulation*

Null mutations of the second chromosome-linked clock gene *timeless* (*tim*<sup>0</sup>) eliminate circadian behavioral rhythms, stop cycling of *per* RNA, and block nuclear accumulation of PER proteins (7, 19). *tim*<sup>0</sup> mutations also suppress accumulation of PER and lead to constitutive hypophosphorylation of residual PER proteins (72). *tim*<sup>L</sup> mutants produce long-period behavioral rhythms and correspondingly lengthen the period of *per* RNA and protein rhythms (A Rothenfluh-Hilfiker & MW Young, unpublished data).

*timeless* encodes a large (~1400 aa) previously undescribed protein (80) that is well conserved in other *Drosophila* species (80a, 80b).  $tim^{01}$ , the most

completely characterized arrhythmic mutation, contains an intragenic deletion of 64 bp that blocks TIM protein production (80–82).

*tim* RNA and proteins cycle with a circadian rhythm (22, 24, 81, 82). The apparent molecular size of the protein also cycles as for PER (24, 82) because of rhythmic TIM phosphorylation (24). The phase of the *tim* RNA rhythm is similar to that of *per* (22), and TIM proteins accumulate in nuclei of lateral neurons and photoreceptors of the eyes and ocelli with kinetics that correspond to those of PER protein (81, 82).  $tim^0$  and  $per^0$  mutations block molecular cycles of *tim* RNA production (22). The *per*<sup>S</sup> mutation shortens the period of *tim* RNA and protein cycles (22), whereas *per*<sup>L</sup> and *tim*<sup>L</sup> mutations lengthen the periods of these cycles (22; A Rothenfluh-Hilfiker & MW Young, unpublished data). Thus, molecular rhythms of *per* and *tim* are interdependent, with mutations at either locus eliciting corresponding changes in the cycles produced by both loci.

*tim* regulates PER's subcellular localization by encoding a protein that must heterodimerize with PER to permit movement to the nucleus. Coexpression of PER and TIM in cultured *Drosophila* cells (S2 cells) results in physical association and nuclear localization of both proteins, but expression of PER in the absence of TIM leads to cytoplasmic accumulation in S2 cells (25; see also further description below). PER also physically interacts with TIM in yeast (21), in vitro (21, 25), and in cells of the Drosophila head (23, 24). Just as TIM is required for PER nuclear localization, PER must be present for nuclear localization of TIM, because TIM accumulates cytoplasmically in per<sup>0</sup> mutants (82) and when expressed without PER in S2 cells (25). Although PER accumulation is suppressed in *tim<sup>0</sup>* mutants, high levels of TIM accumulate in the cytoplasm of  $per^0$  flies (82). The defect in PER accumulation in  $tim^0$  flies suggests that heterodimerization influences the stability of cytoplasmic PER proteins, and studies of truncated, PER- $\beta$ -galactosidase fusion proteins have located sequences on PER that are likely to confer TIM-dependent accumulation (19, 76, 83). Because both tim and per RNAs accumulate with a circadian rhythm, the timing and rate of formation of PER/TIM dimers should be influenced by concentrations of per and tim RNA, by the affinity of PER for TIM, and by rates of decay of the PER monomer (14, 22).

The specificity of PER's physical interaction with TIM has been demonstrated in yeast. Gekakis et al (21) searched for proteins expressed in the *Drosophila* head that would associate with PER in a yeast two-hybrid assay. Of 20 million transformants, each expressing a PER bait and a prey protein from a *Drosophila* head cDNA library, 48 clones signaled a significant proteinprotein interaction. When these clones were subsequently probed with *tim* cDNA, 16 clones, by far the largest subset, were found to carry a *tim* prey (21).

Studies of the PER/TIM interaction in yeast also support the expectation that rates of physical association of the two proteins can set the period of the

circadian rhythm. The mutation per<sup>L</sup> lengthens the period of molecular and behavioral rhythms to  $\sim 28$  h when *Drosophila* are maintained at 25°C, and the period is further increased through the elevation of temperature, with  $\sim$ 30-h rhythms observed at 29°C (84). By comparing the times of accumulation of PER proteins in lateral neurons of wild-type and per<sup>L</sup> Drosophila, Curtin et al (85) showed that nuclear localization was delayed by the  $per^{L}$  mutation. The delays varied in *per<sup>L</sup>* so that they corresponded to the changes in period length produced by the mutant at different temperatures. The  $per^{L}$  mutation is due to a single amino acid substitution in PER's PAS domain (33). Because PAS mediates PER's physical interaction with TIM (see below), Gekakis et al (21) compared wild-type and mutant protein interactions at varying temperatures in yeast. Higher temperatures reduced the affinity of TIM for PER<sup>L</sup>, suggesting that the temperature-sensitive delays in nuclear localization were due to depressed association of TIM and the PER<sup>L</sup> protein in vivo (21). These observations, and the finding that lowering PER dosage lengthens the period (27, 30, 32, 33), show that rates of PER/TIM association regulate the duration of a part of the circadian cycle.

## Physical Association of PER and TIM Regulates Activity of Cytoplasmic Localization Domains

Sequences on PER and TIM responsible for their physical association have been mapped in vitro and by sequencing TIM fragments derived from yeast two-hybrid interactions with PER baits (21, 25; Figure 2). Two binding sites on PER involve PAS and an adjacent sequence referred to as CLD (cytoplasmic localization domain). An N-terminal region referred to as PAS-A interacts with a region of TIM that includes its nuclear localization signal. CLD interacts with a second region of TIM downstream from the TIM NLS (Figure 2; 25).



*Figure 2* Binding sites for PER/TIM heterodimerization regulate cytoplasmic localization domains (CLDs). TIM binds two regions of PER, one of which, CLD, promotes cytoplasmic localization of PER monomers. A TIM CLD, of unrelated sequence, is also suppressed by formation of the PER/TIM complex.

These patterns of PER/TIM binding are pertinent to studies of PER and TIM sequences regulating subcellular localization (25). As first reported by Vosshall et al (19), PER contains a sequence that promotes cytoplasmic accumulation, and the activity of this sequence element is dominant to the PER NLS in monomeric proteins. Saez & Young (25) identified a comparable cytoplasmic localization domain (CLD) for TIM. The PER and TIM CLDs function in pacemaker cells of the fly head, but their activities have been studied most completely in cultured Drosophila cells. In S2 cells, full-length monomeric PER or TIM proteins accumulate in the cytoplasm, while certain truncations permit nuclear localization (25). The PER CLD was mapped to an  $\sim$ 60 amino acid region corresponding to the binding site for TIM that is adjacent to PAS-B (Figure 2). Thus, for PER a TIM binding site produces cytoplasmic localization of monomeric PER proteins. The TIM CLD was similarly mapped to  $\sim 160$ C-terminal amino acids (25). Because coexpression of full-length PER and TIM proteins in S2 cells induced nuclear accumulation of both proteins, physical association of PER and TIM must inhibit the function of both the PER and TIM CLDs. Thus, the activities of the PER and TIM CLDs confine assembly of PER/TIM complexes to the cytoplasm.

Additional insights into CLD regulation have come from localization studies of reporter proteins carrying the PER and TIM nuclear localization signals coupled to a single CLD provided by either TIM or PER. In both cases localization of the reporter was cytoplasmic in S2 cells (25; L Saez & MW Young, unpublished data). The dominant functions of the PER and TIM CLDs, and their continued function in chimeric proteins, suggest that a cytoplasmic factor or factors may interact with monomeric PER and TIM proteins to inhibit nuclear localization. This regulation of subcellular localization may also influence rates of PER/TIM complex accumulation if monomeric PER and TIM proteins must compete with cytoplasmic factors for CLD binding.

### Progression of a Self-Sustaining, Intracellular Oscillator

Sehgal et al (22) proposed a model to explain generation of self-sustaining circadian rhythms through the connected activities of PER and TIM. As indicated in Figure 3, transcription of *per* and *tim* is initiated 3-6 h after subjective dawn (time in constant darkness corresponding to lights on during entrainment) because of absence of nuclear PER and TIM proteins. Although *per* and *tim* RNA levels rise during the subjective day, unstable PER monomers fail to accumulate as a result of insufficient levels of TIM. Near subjective dusk, pools of *per* and *tim* RNA are sufficiently large to promote heterodimerization of PER and TIM. PER/TIM binding suppresses action of CLDs on each protein, allowing nuclear translocation. Nuclear PER/TIM complexes directly or indirectly suppress further *per* and *tim* transcription. As *per* and *tim* RNA levels fall, a threshold for PER/TIM heterodimerization is again reached, eliminating further nuclear



*Figure 3* Model of the PER/TIM oscillator. Progression of molecular cycles is predicted for a self-sustained oscillator in constant darkness (after 22).

translocation and leaving a pool of nuclear PER/TIM complex that was amassed in the early subjective evening. Nuclear PER/TIM complexes will continue to suppress transcription until late subjective night, when the heterodimers are seen to turn over without replacement. As indicated above, period length can be significantly altered experimentally by changing the affinity of PER for TIM (21) or by reducing the concentration of PER (27, 30, 32, 33). Thus, self-sustained oscillations are promoted because times of RNA synthesis are separated from times of nuclear protein accumulation and function by an interval of PER/TIM heterodimerization. In the absence of a mechanism generating such temporal separations, autoregulation of *per* and *tim* transcription by PER and TIM proteins should not produce clocklike cycles of accumulation (22).

### Light Entrains the Clock by Rapidly Eliminating TIM

Exposure of wild-type flies to constant daylight produces arrhythmicity (84, 86) and suppresses accumulation of the PER protein as in  $tim^{01}$  mutants (67, 72). Because the low levels of PER found in  $tim^{01}$  flies were not further suppressed through the exposure of the mutants to constant light, light's effects on wild-type flies might be mediated by TIM (72).

Several studies have now confirmed that light rapidly lowers the level of TIM protein (24, 81, 82). For example, a 10-min pulse of daylight is sufficient to eliminate immunocytochemical staining of TIM in the eyes and central brain (81, 82). The response of TIM-expressing brain cells (LNs) does not appear to require the eyes, as the protein is eliminated from these cells by exposing eyeless flies to the same light pulses (K Wager-Smith & MW Young, unpublished data). These effects of light on TIM do not require clock function, as TIM is rapidly lost when *per*<sup>0</sup> *Drosophila* are exposed to pulses of light (24, 82). Such clock-independent responses to light suggested that TIM's light sensitivity is responsible for entrainment of the phase of the circadian rhythm to the phase of the environmental cycle. TIM's light sensitivity could also explain realignment of the behavioral rhythm to a light/dark cycle with an altered phase, such as would be encountered on crossing time zones.

*Drosophila* maintained in constant darkness continue to show rhythmic behavior with a phase dictated by their prior experience in a light/dark cycle. However, pulses of daylight will reset the phase of these "free-running" rhythms. The response of a fly to light pulses provided at different times of day is reproducible and can be represented by a phase-response curve (PRC) (Figure 4, *top*). As can be seen for the *Drosophila* PRC, light pulses given between subjective dusk and midnight (CT 12 to CT 18) lead to phase delays in the rhythm whereas advances are produced by comparable pulses between subjective midnight and dawn (CT 18 to CT 24; Figure 4). Thus the response to the same stimulus differs in magnitude and direction, depending on the time of day.

Immunoblot analysis has shown that phase advances and delays also occur in the molecular rhythms of TIM protein in response to resetting light pulses (82). Light pulses delivered in the advance zone of the behavioral cycle cause premature loss of TIM protein. TIM accumulates on the following subjective day with an advanced phase. In contrast, light pulses in the delay zone cause a loss of TIM that is promptly followed by its reaccumulation. TIM subsequently decays, but with a new phase that is established by the secondary accumulation. Myers et al (82) proposed that advances are differentiated from delays by the different tim RNA titers found in the early versus late subjective night. Because tim and per RNA levels are highest during the first part of the subjective night (Figure 4, bottom), TIM proteins eliminated by a light pulse at this time are replaced by new translation in the current cycle. This would not be the case for light-induced loss of TIM near the end of the subjective night, as tim and per RNA levels are low. Thus, light late at night causes TIM to decay prematurely, and it advances the following day's cycle of per and tim RNA and protein accumulation (Figure 4; 82).

Three observations suggest that TIM protein changes mediate entrainment of behavioral rhythmicity through the above mechanism.



*Figure 4* Time-specific levels of *tim* and *per* RNA may determine whether light pulses advance or delay the phase of the behavioral rhythm. *Top*: phase response curve (PRC) for 10-min pulses of daylight delivered at different times of subjective day or night. Pulses in early subjective night (CT 12 to CT 18) delay the behavioral rhythm by up to ~4 h. Comparable light pulses in late subjective night (CT 18 to CT 24) can advance the rhythm by ~2 h (after 82). *Bottom*: PER and TIM protein accumulation follows *per* and *tim* RNA accumulation by several hours in constant darkness. Behavioral delays occur when RNA levels are high at the time of the light pulse. TIM that is degraded by light is replaced by continued translation, further delaying the decline in TIM protein levels. Behavioral advances occur for light pulses given when RNA levels are low. Replacement of TIM requires new transcription. Premature loss of TIM without replacement in the current molecular cycle allows advanced *per* and *tim* RNA accumulation in the following cycle.

- 1. TIM levels drop when arrhythmic  $per^0$  flies are exposed to light but *tim* RNA levels are unaffected (22, 24, 82). In rhythmic flies ( $per^+$  or  $per^S$ ), light-dependent loss of TIM is followed by increased transcription of *per* and *tim* (14, 23, 87). Thus, acute effects of light are on TIM protein and not *tim* RNA.
- 2. As indicated above, TIM's light sensitivity is clock-independent because it occurs in  $per^0$  flies. Therefore changes in the accumulation and diminution profiles of the protein should dictate changes in the behavioral rhythm and not vice versa.
- 3. The new phase of the TIM protein rhythm is apparent within hours of the administered light pulse and thus accompanies the first evidence of a behavioral change in the flies (82, 88).

## doubletime, a Third Essential Component of the Drosophila Oscillator

Further genetic screening might be expected to identify additional components of the fly clock. These could include genes controlling TIM's light sensitivity, PER's instability in the absence of TIM, and functions controlling PER and TIM phosphorylation. There is also evidence for posttranscriptional regulation of *per* and *tim* RNA accumulation. For example, *per* RNA coding sequences promote cycling of *per* mRNA in the absence of the *per* promoter (61). They also promote cycling when fused to a novel, constitutively active promoter (62). Sequences within the transcribed region of *per* delay the timing of *per* RNA accumulation. These findings suggest effects on rates of *per* transcription or RNA stability (76).

Another gap in our understanding involves the biochemical activity of the PER/TIM complex. Accumulation of the complex results in suppression of *per* and *tim* transcription, but there is no evidence that PER, TIM, or the complex directly interacts with DNA or a mediating transcription factor or factors. There is some evidence that effects on transcription are indirect: Phase-advancing or -delaying light pulses that transiently eliminate TIM give rise to brief increases in *per* and *tim* RNA pools that appear 4–5 h after administration of the pulse (14, 23).

A third clock gene, *doubletime* (*dbt*), encodes a factor required for behavioral rhythmicity and progression of the PER/TIM cycle. Three classes of mutant alleles have been recovered at *dbt*. The mutation originally defining the locus,  $dbt^{s}$ , produces flies with short-period, 18-h rhythms when homozygous (J Price & MW Young, unpublished data). Thus,  $dbt^{s}$  produces a more extreme period-shortening phenotype than *per*<sup>s</sup>. Gene dosage studies suggest that increasing

the level of wild-type *dbt* function shortens the period (J Price, B Kloss & MW Young, unpublished data). A long-period mutant has also been isolated,  $dbt^{L}$  (~27.5 hours) (A Rothenfluh-Hilfiker & MW Young, unpublished data). Both  $dbt^{S}$  and  $dbt^{L}$  are semidominant.  $dbt^{S}/+$  heterozygotes produce ~21-h rhythms, whereas  $dbt^{L}/+$  flies have ~25-h periods (J Price, A Rothenfluh-Hilfiker & MW Young, unpublished data). The third class of dbt mutations,  $dbt^{0}$ , are null. However, unlike  $per^{0}$  and  $tim^{0}$  mutations,  $dbt^{0}$  alleles confer recessive lethality, establishing a double role for the gene. Although adult behavior cannot be assessed, molecular studies of developing  $dbt^{0}$  Drosophila indicate that they are arrhythmic (B Kloss, J Blau & MW Young, unpublished data).

*dbt* mutations affect *per* and *tim* RNA cycling. For example, *dbt*<sup>S</sup> shortens rhythms of *tim* RNA expression to 18 h (B Kloss and MW Young, unpublished data). The effects of *dbt*<sup>0</sup> mutations are of the most interest, as these mutations block production of *dbt* RNA and *tim* RNA. In addition to these effects on RNA levels, PER proteins accumulate abnormally in *dbt*<sup>0</sup> *Drosophila* (B Kloss, J Blau, J Price & MW Young, unpublished data).

The *dbt* locus has been cloned (B Kloss, J Price & MW Young, unpublished data), and *dbt* RNA localization studies in situ have shown that *per*, *tim*, and *dbt* are expressed in the same cells in the *Drosophila* head (J Blau & MW Young, unpublished data). Therefore *dbt*, *per*, and *tim* appear to represent three essential components of a single intracellular oscillator.

#### How Does Cycling of an Intracellular PER/TIM Oscillator Regulate Behavior?

Tissue transplantation studies in silkmoths (89, 90) and *Drosophila* (91) have shown that cells composing the clock for the moth and fly can control rhythmic behavior through action of a diffusible substance. Handler & Konopka (91) transplanted brains from dissected heads of *per*<sup>S</sup> adults into abdomens of adult *per*<sup>0</sup> recipients. Recipient flies showed transformed locomotor activity rhythms with periods expected for the donor strain (19 h). *per*<sup>0</sup> recipients that received brain transplants from *per*<sup>0</sup> donors continued to show behavioral arrhythmicity (91).

A diffusible signal or signals similarly couple cells of the hamster suprachiasmatic nucleus to control of circadian locomotor rhythms. Silver et al (46) transplanted encapsulated SCN tissues from wild-type donors into SCN-ablated, *tau*/+ recipient hamsters. The *tau* mutation shortens the locomotor activity rhythm so that *tau*/+ hamsters produce  $\sim$ 22- rather than 24-h rhythms (10). Transplant recipients were recovered that displayed donor (24-h) rather than recipient rhythms. Because the transplanted cells were encased in semipermeable membranes, it was concluded that cell contact was not required for establishment of the behavioral rhythm (46). The suprachiasmatic nucleus is composed of cells that autonomously produce circadian oscillations in culture (92), which suggests that diffusible signals controlling behavior may be products of SCN pacemaker cells themselves.

These and other factors that must integrate cellular responses to circadian molecular oscillators are likely to be products of clock-controlled genes (CCGs) (2). Clock-controlled genes produce transcripts that accumulate with a circadian rhythm. But these genes can be distinguished as targets of the circadian pacemaker rather than cycling clock components because CCG loss fails to block pacemaker cycling. Some of the earliest descriptions of CCGs emerged from studies of plants (cf. 1,93) and fungi (2), and known or likely CCGs are now well characterized in *Drosophila* (3,94), *Cyanobacteria* (17), and coldand warm-blooded vertebrates (cf. 95–100).

CCGs that cycle with stable phase differences can be identified in the same organism (cf. 2, 3, 94). This regulation of CCGs indicates that a cell can evaluate progression of the molecular oscillator over much of its cycle. In *Drosophila* this suggests hierarchical control by the PER/TIM oscillator. It is as yet unknown how the pattern of expression of any CCG is determined, but possibly the same regulatory activity of the PER/TIM complex that mediates cycling transcription of *per* and *tim* will be found to time expression of *Drosophila*'s CCGs.

> Visit the Annual Reviews home page at http://www.AnnualReviews.org.

#### Literature Cited

- Nagy F, Kay SA, Chua N-H. 1988. Genes Dev. 2:376–82
- Loros JJ, Denome SA, Dunlap JC. 1989. Science 243:385–88
- Van Gelder R, Krasnow M. 1996. *EMBO* J. 15:1625–31
- 4. Takahashi JS, Zatz M. 1982. *Science* 217: 1104–11
- Hardin PE, Hall JC, Rosbash M. 1990. *Nature* 343:536–40
- Aronson BD, Johnson KA, Loros JJ, Dunlap JC. 1994. Science 263:1578– 84
- Sehgal A, Price JL, Man B, Young MW. 1994. Science 263:1603–6
- Young MW. 1998. In Handbook of Behavioral Neurobiology. New York: Plenum. In press
- Tei H, Okamura H, Shigeyoshi Y, Fukuhara C, Ozawa R, et al. 1997. *Nature* 389:512–16
- 9a. Sun ZS, Albrecht U, Zuchenko O, Bailey J, Eichele G, Lee CC. 1997. Cell 90:1003– 11

- 10. Ralph MR, Menaker M. 1988. Science 241:1225–27
- King DP, Zhao YL, Sangoram AM, Wilsbacher LD, Tanaka M, et al. 1997. *Cell* 89:641–53
- Rosbash M, Allada R, Dembinska M, Guo WQ, Le M, et al. 1996. Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol. 61:265–78
- 13. Sehgal A, Ousley A, Hunter-Ensor M. 1996. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 7:165–72
- Young MW, Wager-Smith K, Vosshall LB, Saez L, Myers MP. 1996. Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol. 61:279–84
- 15. Dunlap JC. 1996. Annu. Rev. Genet. 30:579–601
- Millar AJ, Carre IA, Strayer CA, Chua N-H, Kay S. 1995. *Science* 267:1161–63
- Liu Y, Tsinoremas NF, Johnson CH, Lebedeva NV, Golden SS, et al. 1995. *Genes Dev.* 9:1469–78
- Konopka RJ, Benzer S. 1971. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 68:2112–16
- Vosshall LB, Price JL, Sehgal A, Saez L, Young MW. 1994. Science 263:1606–9

- Rutila JE, Zeng H, Le M, Curtin KD, Hall JC, Rosbash M. 1996. Neuron 17:921– 29
- Gekakis N, Saez L, Delahaye-Brown A-M, Myers MP, Sehgal A, et al. 1995. Science 270:811–15
- Sehgal A, Rothenfluh-Hilfiker A, Hunter-Ensor M, Chen YF, Myers MP, Young MW. 1995. Science 270:808–10
- 23. Lee CG, Parikh V, Itsukaichi T, Bae K, Edery I. 1996. Science 271:1740–44
- Zeng H, Qian Z, Myers MP, Rosbash M. 1996. *Nature* 380:129–35
- 25. Saez L, Young MW. 1996. Neuron 17: 911–20
- 26. Young MW, Judd B. 1978. *Genetics* 88: 723–42
- Smith RF, Konopka RJ. 1982. Mol. Gen. Genet. 185:30–36
- Bargiello TA, Young MW. 1984. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81:2142–46
- Reddy P, Zehring WA, Wheeler DA, Pirrota V, Hadfield C, et al. 1984. *Cell* 38: 701–10
- Bargiello TA, Jackson FR, Young MW. 1984. Nature 312:752–54
- Zehring WA, Wheeler DA, Reddy P, Konopka RJ, Kyriacou CP, et al. 1984. *Cell* 39:369–76
- 32. Cote GC, Brody S. 1986. J. Theor. Biol. 121:487–503
- Baylies MK, Bargiello TA, Jackson FR, Young MW. 1987. *Nature* 326:390–92
- Yu Q, Jacquier AC, Colot HV, Citri Y, Hamblen M, et al. 1987. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 84:784–88
- Jackson FR, Bargiello TA, Yun S-H, Young MW. 1986. Nature 320:185–88
- Citri YV, Colot HV, Jacquier AC, Yu Q, Hall JC, et al. 1987. *Nature* 326:42–47
- Baylies MK, Weiner L, Vosshall LB, Saez L, Young MW. 1993. In *Molecular Genetics of Biological Rhythms*, pp. 123–53. New York: Marcel Dekker
- Saez L, Young MW. 1988. Mol. Cell. Biol. 8:5378–85
- Siwicki KK, Eastman C, Petersen G, Rosbash M, Hall JC. 1988. *Neuron* 1:141–50
- Liu X, Zweibel LJ, Hinton D, Benzer S, Hall JC, Rosbash M. 1992. J. Neurosci. 12:2735–44
- Colot HV, Hall JC, Rosbash M. 1988. EMBO J. 7:3929–37
- Reppert SM, Tsai T, Roca AL, Sauman I. 1994. *Neuron* 13:1167–76
- Toma DP, Robinson GE. 1996. Presented at Meet. Soc. Res. Biol. Rhythms, 5th, Jacksonville, Fla.
- 44. Baylies MK, Sehgal A, Young MW. 1992. Neuron 9:575–81

- Levine JD, Sauman I, Imbalzano M, Reppert SM, Jackson FR. 1995. Neuron 15:147–57
- Silver R, LeSauter J, Tresco PA, Lehman MN. 1996. *Nature* 382:810–13
- 47. Crews ST, Thomas JB, Goodman CS. 1988. *Cell* 52:143–51
- Hoffman EC, Reyes J, Chu FF, Sander F, Conley LH, et al. 1991. Science 252:954– 58
- Burbach KM, Poland A, Bradfield CA. 1992. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89: 8185–89
- 50. Reyes H, Reisz-Porszasa S, Hankinson O. 1992. Science 256:1193–95
- 51. Gonzalez FJ, Tukey RH, Nebert DW. 1984. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 26:117–21
- Denison MS, Fisher JM, Whitlock JP Jr. 1988. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 85:2528–32
- Hapgood J, Cuthill S, Denis M, Poellinger L, Gustafsson JA. 1989. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 86:60–64
- 54. Huang ZJ, Edery I, Rosbash M. 1993. *Nature* 364:259–62
- 55. Crosthwaite SK, Dunlap JC, Loros JJ. 1997. Science 276:763–69
- Ballario P, Vittorioso P, Magrelli A, Talora C, Cabibbo A, Macino G. 1996. *EMBO J*. 15:1650–57
- 57. Linden H, Macino G. 1997. *EMBO J*. 16:98–109
- Vitaterna MH, King DP, Chang A-M, Kornhauser JM, Lowrey PL, et al. 1994. Science 264:719–25
- Antoch MP, Song EJ, Chang A-M, Vitaterna MH, Zhao YL, et al. 1997. *Cell* 89:655–010167
- 59. Kay SA. 1997. Science 276:753-54
- Ewer J, Frisch B, Hamblen-Coyle MJ, Rosbash M, Hall JC. 1992. J. Neurosci. 12:3321–49
- Frisch B, Hardin PE, Hamblen-Coyle MJ, Rosbash M, Hall JC. 1994. *Neuron* 12:555–70
- 62. Vosshall LB, Young MW. 1995. Neuron 15:345–60
- 63. Moses K, Ellis MC, Rubin GM. 1989. *Nature* 340:531–36
- 64. Moses K, Rubin GM. 1991. Genes Dev. 5:583–93
- Ellis MC, O'Neill EM, Rubin GM. 1993. Development 119:855–65
- Edery I, Zweibel LJ, Dembinska ME, Rosbash M. 1994. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91:2260–64
- Zerr DM, Hall JC, Rosbash M, Siwicki KK. 1990. J. Neurosci. 10:2749–62
- 68. Hardin PE. 1994. Mol. Cell. Biol. 14: 7211–18

- Emery IF, Noveral JM, Jamison CF, Siwicki KK. 1997. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 94:4092–96
- Giebultowicz JM, Hege D. 1997. *Nature* 386:664
- Hege DM, Stanewsky R, Hall JC, Giebultowicz JM. 1997. J. Biol. Rhythms 12: 300–8
- Price JL, Dembinska ME, Young MW, Rosbash M. 1995. *EMBO J.* 14:4044–47
- 73. Sauman I, Reppert SM. 1996. Neuron 17:889–900
- Sauman I, Tsai T, Roca AL, Reppert SM. 1996. Neuron 17:901–9
- Brandes C, Plautz JD, Stanewsky R, Jamison CF, Straume M, et al. 1996. *Neuron* 16:687–92
- Stanewsky R, Jamison CF, Plautz JD, Kay SA, Hall JC. 1997. *EMBO J.* 16:5006–18
- 77. Zeng H, Hardin PE, Rosbash M. 1994. EMBO J. 13:3590–98
- 78. Feldman JF, Hoyle MN. 1973. *Genetics* 75:605–13
- Garceau NY, Liu Y, Loros JJ, Dunlap JC. 1997. Cell 89:469–76
- Myers MP, Wager-Smith K, Wesley CS, Young MW, Sehgal A. 1995. Science 270:805–8
- Myers MP, Rothenfluh-Hilfiker A, Chang M, Young MW. 1997. Nucleic Acids Res. 25:4710–14
- 80b. Ousley A, Zafarullah K, Chen Y, Emerson M, Hickman L, Sehgal A. 1998. *Genetics*. In press
- Hunter-Ensor M, Ousley A, Sehgal A. 1996. Cell 84:677–85
- Myers MP, Wager-Smith K, Rothenfluh-Hilfiker A, Young MW. 1996. Science 271:1736–40
- 83. Dembinska ME, Stanewsky R, Hall JC,

Rosbash M. 1997. J. Biol. Rhythms 12: 157–72

- Konopka RJ, Pittendrigh CS, Orr D. 1989. J. Neurogen. 6:1–10
- Curtin KD, Huang ZJ, Rosbash M. 1995. Neuron 14:365–72
- Pittendrigh CS. 1966. Z. Pflanzenphysiol. 54:275–307
- Marrus SB, Zeng H, Rosbash M. 1996. EMBO J. 15:6877–86
- Pittendrigh CS. 1981. In Handbook of Behavioral Neurobiology, pp. 95–124. New York: Plenum
- 89. Truman JW. 1972. J. Comp. Physiol. 81: 99–114
- 90. Truman JW. 1974. J. Comp. Physiol. 95: 281–96
- 91. Handler AM, Konopka RJ. 1979. *Nature* 279:236–38
- 92. Welsh DK, Logothetis DE, Meister M, Reppert, SM. 1995. *Neuron* 14:697–706
- Giuliano G, Hoffman NE, Ko K, Scolnik PA, Cashmore AR. 1988. *EMBO J.* 7:3635–42
- Van Gelder R, Bae H, Palazzolo M, Krasnow M. 1995. Curr. Biol. 5:1424–36
- 95. Korenbrot JI, Fernald RD. 1989. *Nature* 337:454–57
- Pierce ME, Sheshberadaran H, Zhang Z, Fox LE, Applebury ML, Takahashi JS. 1993. Neuron 10:579–84
- Borjigin J, Wang MM, Snyder SH. 1995. *Nature* 378:783–85
- Coon SL, Roseboom PH, Baler R, Weller JL, Namboodiri MAA, et al. 1995. Science 270:1681–83
- 99. Foulkes NS, Duval G, Sassone-Corsi P. 1996. Nature 381:83–85
- 100. Green CB, Besharse JC. 1996. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93:14884–88